STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Saluda County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

---

KYLE WAYNE WAY,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000547

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 30 2024**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

### I.

Whether the PCR court erred where it denied Petitioner belated appellate review, where counsel did not file a notice of appeal after Petitioner's trial, and where there was no evidence Petitioner knowingly and intelligently waived his right to appeal, since absent an intelligent waiver by Petitioner, counsel was obliged to initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967)?

### II.

Whether the court erred in denying post-conviction relief where counsel failed to specify to the trial court why it should direct a verdict of acquittal, since issue preservation principles require an issue to be raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity, and where Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance?

## STATEMENT

### *Procedural history*

During the November term of 2019, a Saluda County Grand Jury indicted Kyle Wayne Way, Petitioner, for third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. App. 643 – 644. Petitioner was also charged with second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. App. 7, ll. 8-13. Petitioner was tried before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod and a jury, from November 18 – 21, 2019. App. 1; App. 298; App. 521. Petitioner was represented by Andrew Bishop. Robbie McNair and Melanie Darko prosecuted the case. App. 1.

Petitioner was acquitted of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. He was convicted of third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and he was sentenced to serve a fifteen-year term of imprisonment. App. 563, l. 24 – 564, l. 11; App. 570, ll. 17-20; App. 643. No notice of intent to appeal was served.

On May 8, 2020, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 572 – 578. On March 22, 2023, the State made its return, partial motion to dismiss, and motion for a more definite statement. App. 579 – 586. On October 4, 2022, and again on March 22, 2023, Petitioner filed amendments to his PCR application. App. 587 – 590. On April 4, 2023, a hearing was held on the matter before the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis.<sup>1</sup> Ashley McMahan represented Petitioner. Zachary Jones represented the State. App. 591. On February 26, 2024, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 627 – 642.

---

<sup>1</sup> Undersigned counsel has confirmed with opposing counsel that due to a clerical error the PCR court did not have before it pages 84 and 87 of the November 20, 2019 (Day 3) transcript of Petitioner’s trial. Because those pages were not part of the record that was before the PCR court, they have not been included in the Appendix. *See* Rule 243(f), SCACR.

***Relevant facts***

Petitioner admittedly exchanged “weird,” but not sexual, text and Facebook messages with his half-sister (Minor 1). App. 63, ll. 18-24; App. 418, l. 25 – 421, l. 23; App. 352, ll. 2-18. In 2015, Minor 1 was thirteen and fourteen years old. App. 65, ll. 8-22; App. 74, l. 15 – 75, l. 2. Petitioner was approximately twenty-eight. Petitioner had a steady job at Velux, and he had no criminal record. Petitioner and Minor 1 had the same father (Father), who was an alcoholic and was violently abusive when drinking. The Department of Social Services (DSS) was involved with the family during Petitioner’s childhood and during Minor 1’s childhood. App. 404, l. 18 – 408, l. 22; App. 471, ll. 9-12; App. 567, l. 18; App. 103, l. 15 – 110, l. 25.

In May of 2015, Petitioner moved in with Minor 1’s mother (Mother),<sup>2</sup> Minor 1, and Minor 1’s younger siblings (Minor 2 and Minor 3). Petitioner moved in because Father was being released from “rehab” and an adult was needed to supervise Father around the children. (Father was to sleep in a camper in the yard.) Minor 1’s older sister (Older Sister), lived with the children’s grandmother (Grandmother) at the time. App. 404, l. 25 – 417, l. 18; App. 422, l. 11 – 425, l. 25; App. 67, l. 11 – 69, l. 20; App. 103, l. 15 – 104, l. 21. In October of 2015, Petitioner stopped living with the family shortly after Mother and Father lost custody of the children due to Father drinking and chasing the children around with a cane. App. 110, l. 14 – 112, l. 18.

Also in October of 2015, one of Minor 1’s aunts (Aunt), became concerned about the relationship between Petitioner and Minor 1, and looked through Minor 1’s cell phone. Aunt saw messages on the phone between Petitioner and Minor 1 in which they referred to each other as “husband and wife.” Aunt contacted law enforcement and turned over Minor 1’s phone. App. 279, l. 14 – 289, l. 15. Law enforcement found regularly occurring messages in which the

---

<sup>2</sup> Minor 1’s mother was Petitioner’s stepmother. App. 177, ll. 3-4.

Petitioner and Minor 1 also referred to each other as boyfriend and girlfriend, talked about how much they loved each other, and talked about whether Minor 1 would wear Petitioner's ring, among other improper (but not sexual) things. Law enforcement also found a joint Facebook account shared by the two which showed them as getting married on March 13, 2015. App. 131, l. 1 – 134, l. 10; App. 328, l. 1 – 352, l. 18.

Minor 1 was forensically interviewed at a Children's Advocacy Center twice, once in May of 2016, and again in December of 2016. During the first interview she denied any sexual misconduct by Petitioner. The second interview was conducted after Minor 1 received counseling. During that interview, Minor 1 claimed she only had sex with Petitioner when she was forced or drugged. Both of these accounts were different from her trial testimony. App. 136, l. 25 – 138, l. 14; App. 323, l. 24 – 326, l. 8; App. 354, l. 24 – 355, l. 2. Minor 1 received a medical examination, which was normal. App. 312, ll. 1-14; App. 304, l. 1 – 305, l. 2; App. 316, l. 18.

Petitioner testified at trial as follows. Petitioner stated Minor 1 was threatening to run away from home, was being bullied at school, and was cutting herself. According to Petitioner, they were at the Relay for Life in Saluda in April of 2015, and Minor 1 stated to him that she had told her friends Petitioner was her seventeen-year-old boyfriend. Petitioner testified that he went "along with it," knowing it looked "weird," and that he and Minor 1 started an online and text message "fake relationship." Petitioner stated the messages were "role playing." App. 417, l. 12 – 421, l. 23; App. 457, ll. 18-20; App. 460, l. 25 – 463, l. 25.

Petitioner was adamant that he did not have a sexual relationship with Minor 1 or engage in sexual behavior with her. Petitioner stated he only pretended to have a relationship with Minor 1 via messaging and Facebook so that she could show people she had a boyfriend and

would not get bullied. Petitioner stated his judgment was clouded because he empathized with Minor 1 due to growing up in the same abusive household. Petitioner's testimony was consistent with his interview with law enforcement (and with his written statement), wherein he maintained it was a fake relationship due to Minor 1 being bullied, and that he had not committed any sexual misconduct.<sup>3</sup> App. 419, l. 18 – 448, l. 8; App. 466, ll. 5-23; App. 355, l. 13 – 361, l. 16.

In contrast, Minor 1 claimed at trial that Petitioner kissed her, and had sex with her on March 13, 2015, and that she told him to stop but he told her to be quiet. According to Minor 1, they had sex two or three times a week thereafter, in her bedroom. Minor 1 also alleged she performed oral sex on Petitioner. Minor 1 claimed they considered each other boyfriend and girlfriend and Petitioner gave her a ring. According to Minor 1, Petitioner monitored her cell phone and messaged two of her male classmates to stay away from her.<sup>4</sup> Minor 1 also alleged Petitioner slapped her when she tried to get space from him. App. 83, l. 6 – 99, l. 25; App. 140, ll. 17-19. Minor 1 claimed Petitioner threatened to kill her if she told anyone about the sexual abuse. App. 129, ll. 17-21.

Minor 1 claimed she lied during both of her forensic interviews because she did not know who would see the videotaped interviews and she did not want to be bullied. Minor 1 also alleged she lied because she was worried about her parents getting in trouble with DSS. Minor 1 admitted she was bullied before Petitioner was moved in, but she denied cutting herself. App. 145, l. 3 – 146, l. 10; App. 136, l. 25 – 138, l. 19; App. 143, ll. 10-20.

---

<sup>3</sup> Captain Price, who interviewed Petitioner, alleged Petitioner verbally admitted he held hands with Minor 1 and kissed her twice. However, Price admitted Petitioner characterized the kisses as a "peck." App. 361, l. 17 – 362, l. 7; App. 365, ll. 5-13. Petitioner stated he did not tell Price he kissed Minor 1, but only that he had given the kids a "peck" when he thought he was leaving the home. App. 466, l. 24 – 467, l. 6; App. 487, l. 23 – 488, l. 19.

<sup>4</sup> In contrast, Petitioner testified he did not send the messages (which were from Minor 1's phone) to Minor 1's classmates. App. 435, l. 9 – 437, l. 7.

At trial, multiple family members claimed to have seen Minor 1 and Petitioner in bed together at different times—Father, Mother, and Minor 2. App. 101, ll. 3-17; App. 104, l. 17 – 105, l. 3; App. 114, l. 11 – 115, l. 21; App. 189, l. 7 – 191, l. 18; App. 389, l. 19 – 390, l. 17. However, none of these family members contacted law enforcement. A number of Minor 1’s family members claimed they saw Petitioner and Minor 1 acting “inappropriately,” such as by holding hands, and by being “touchy-feely” at a confirmation service for Minor 2. App. 185, l. 13 – 186, l. 16; App. 243, l. 12 – 244, l. 24; App. 261, l. 13 – 263, l. 19. Nevertheless, these family members did not separate Petitioner and Minor 1 or contact law enforcement despite this allegedly inappropriate behavior at church.<sup>5</sup>

At the conclusion of the prosecution’s case, counsel moved that the court direct verdicts of acquittal. Counsel did not provide any reasons, argument, or law regarding this motion. Counsel simply stated, “Your Honor, at this point the defense would just move for a directed verdict.” The solicitor argued Minor 1’s testimony supported the charges and specified: “His statements to law enforcement about having kissed her, that alone could be the elements of CSC, third, as well as their ages.” The court denied the motion. App. 399, l. 18 – 400, l. 12. Counsel renewed the motion at the conclusion of the defense’s case. App. 519, ll. 3-9. In closing argument, the solicitor argued that Petitioner was guilty of one count of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on Minor 1’s testimony that Petitioner had sexual intercourse with her. The solicitor argued that Petitioner was guilty of one count of third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on Minor 1’s testimony that Petitioner kissed her. App. 535, l. 14 – 536, l. 14.

---

<sup>5</sup> Petitioner testified he did not behave improperly with Minor 1. For example, he denied “inappropriate behavior” in church, although he stated Minor 1 had her head on his shoulder at the christening. App. 437, l. 8 – 448, l. 6.

The jury deliberated for only half an hour, and it acquitted Petitioner of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor but convicted him of third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. App. 563, l. 5 – 564, l. 11.

As seen, no direct appeal was taken despite Petitioner pleading not guilty and having a trial. At the PCR hearing, it was undisputed defense counsel did not file or serve notice of intent to appeal. It was also undisputed defense counsel did not inform Petitioner of his right to appeal the conviction. Counsel stated he did not think there were meritorious issues for appeal, although he admitted he had never filed a notice of appeal in a general sessions case. Nevertheless, counsel did not comply with the procedure in *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).<sup>6</sup> Petitioner testified that he would have wanted to appeal if he had known he could. App. 600, l. 24 – 601, l. 20; App. 614, ll. 21-25; 617, l. 15 – 618, l. 16.

Also at the PCR hearing, Petitioner proceeded upon the allegation that counsel's performance was deficient due to his failure to specify his argument to the trial court regarding his directed verdict motion. Petitioner testified that counsel "asked for it [a directed verdict] but he really didn't explain why he was asking for it." App. 607, ll. 15-21. Counsel agreed his directed verdict motion was "pro forma," and stated it was "more of a formality," "more of just to you know preserve it on the record," because in his opinion "there was an abundance of evidence." App. 616, l. 19 – 617, l. 1.

---

<sup>6</sup> *Anders* provides that when counsel believes an appeal to be "wholly frivolous, after conscientious examination of it, he should so advise court and request permission to withdraw." *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738, 744 (1967). However, that request must be accompanied by a "brief referring to anything in the record that might arguably support the appeal." *Id.* A copy of counsel's brief should be furnished to the defendant with time allowed to raise any points that he chooses, whereupon the court should proceed, after full examination of all proceedings, to decide whether the case is wholly frivolous, granting counsel's request to withdraw if it finds the case to be frivolous, and affording assistance of counsel to argue the appeal if it finds legal points arguable on their merits. *Id.*

In its order of dismissal, the PCR court found Petitioner's claim that counsel "was ineffective for failing to file a direct appeal or to consult with Applicant about the possibility of appeal" was "without merit." App. 631. The order of dismissal cited *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470 (2000), but concluded as follows.

At the evidentiary hearing, **Applicant admitted he never asked Counsel to pursue an appeal.** Counsel also testified that Applicant neither requested an appeal nor made any other indication that he wanted to challenge the conviction. Counsel further testified he did not see a basis for filing a notice of appeal because he could not see any meritorious issues for appeal. **Applicant did not present any nonfrivolous grounds that would have justified an appeal.** As 'evidence that there were nonfrivolous grounds for appeal or that the defendant in question promptly expressed a desire to appeal' is 'highly relevant' to the prejudice analysis, the Court finds Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proving prejudice from Counsel's failure to consult with him about filing an appeal. *Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 485. As the failure to prove prejudice is dispositive, the Court need not reach the deficiency prong. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697. Accordingly, this allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.

App. 632 (footnote omitted) (emphasis added). The order of dismissal also included the following in a footnote: "Even where the post-conviction relief court finds an applicant was denied the right to a direct appeal due to the ineffective assistance of counsel, the court may not grant post-conviction relief on that basis. *Davis v. State*, 288 S.C. 290, 291 n. 1, 342 S.E.2d 60, 60 n. 1 (1986). Instead, the proper remedy is for the applicant to petition for belated review of direct appeal issues pursuant to the procedure set forth in *Davis*. *Id.* Therefore, even if Applicant had met his burden as to this allegation, the remedy he requested—a new trial—would not be available." App. 632.

The order of dismissal also addressed the allegation that defense counsel "failed to adequately argue the directed verdict motion at trial." App. 641. The order stated the court

found no deficiency and no prejudice. “Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he made the directed verdict motion merely to preserve it on the record; he believed there was an abundance of evidence in the record to support the charges, so the motion was not likely to succeed. The Court agrees with Counsel’s assessment of the evidence and finds that Applicant has failed to prove Counsel was deficient or that a directed verdict motion would probably have been granted but for Counsel’s failure to more vigorously argue for it.” App. 641.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR court erred where it denied Petitioner belated appellate review, where counsel did not file a notice of appeal after Petitioner’s trial, and where there was no evidence Petitioner knowingly and intelligently waived his right to appeal, since absent an intelligent waiver by Petitioner, counsel was obliged to initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

Counsel’s failure to file an appeal was deficient performance—he failed to consult with Petitioner about an appeal, he failed to file and serve notice of appeal, and Petitioner had received a fifteen-year term of imprisonment at trial.

The defendant has the ultimate authority to make certain fundamental decisions regarding his case, including the decision whether to take an appeal. *Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U.S. 745, 751 (1983). Some decisions “are reserved for the client—notably, whether to plead guilty, waive the right to a jury trial, testify in one’s own behalf, and forgo an appeal.” *McCoy v. Louisiana*, 584 U.S. 414, 422 (2018). A defendant must knowingly and intelligently waive the right to appeal from his conviction and sentence. *White v. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 118, 208 S.E.2d 35, 39 (1974).

“Counsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an appeal when there is reason to think either (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because there are nonfrivolous grounds for appeal), or (2) that this particular defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing.” *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 480 (2000). After a client is convicted and sentenced, “[c]ounsel should give the client his professional judgment whether an appeal should be taken and ascertain whether the client wishes to appeal.” *Matter of Anonymous Member of the Bar*, 303 S.C. 306, 307, 400

S.E.2d 483, 483 (1991). An attorney, even if retained only for purposes of trial, “must serve and file Notice of Appeal to protect the client’s right to appeal.” *Id.* “Following a trial, counsel is required to make certain the defendant is made fully aware of the right to appeal. In the absence of an intelligent waiver by the defendant, counsel must either initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).” *Turner v. State*, 380 S.C. 223, 224, 670 S.E.2d 373, 374 (2008).

There was no evidence that Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to appeal. In *Simuel v. State*, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010), this Court found the PCR court erred in denying Simuel a belated appeal pursuant to *White v. State, supra*, where there was “no probative evidence that [trial counsel] informed Petitioner of his right to a direct appeal, nor [was] there any evidence that Petitioner waived his right to a direct appeal.” In reversing the decision of the PCR court and granting Simuel a belated appeal, this Court explained: “To waive a direct appeal, a defendant must make a knowing and intelligent decision not to pursue the appeal.” *Id.* (internal quotations omitted) (quoting *Sheppard v. State*, 357 S.C. 646, 651, 594 S.E.2d 462, 465 (2004)). Counsel was required to file an appeal in this case. There was no knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to appeal. Therefore, counsel was obliged to initiate the appeal or comply with the *Anders* procedure. *Turner v. State*, 380 S.C. at 224, 670 S.E.2d at 374; *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 480.

Additionally, there was no requirement Petitioner show he would prevail on appeal or that he asked for an appeal in order to be entitled to appellate review. The PCR court’s failure to grant Petitioner belated appellate review because he did not show that there “were nonfrivolous grounds for appeal or that the defendant in question promptly expressed a desire to appeal” was an error of law. Although the PCR court’s order cited *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 485, for

this proposition, *Flores-Ortega* was in the context of a guilty plea. “Although not determinative, a highly relevant factor in this inquiry [whether to consult with the defendant about an appeal] will be whether the conviction follows a trial or a guilty plea[.]” *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 480. Petitioner was convicted at trial and received the maximum term of imprisonment. Any rational defendant would want to appeal.

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