STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Apr 16 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO SALUDA COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000547

Kyle Wayne Way,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DON J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ZACHARY W. JONES
S.C. Bar No. 104174
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

during the proceedings before the PCR court, the PCR judge was denied a fair opportunity to rule on the merits of this argument. *See State v. Stone*, 376 S.C. 32, 36, 655 S.E.2d 487, 488–89 (2007) (“If a pitch was never thrown at trial, we cannot review whether the trial court made the proper call.”); *I’On*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (“The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.”); *see also Queen’s Grant*, 368 S.C. at 372–73, 628 S.E.2d at 919 (“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” (citations omitted)); *cf. Powers v. City of Aiken*, 255 S.C. 115, 117, 177 S.E.2d 370, 371 (1970) (“We have searched the record and agree that the trial judge was not given an opportunity to rule upon this issue, and accordingly, the question is not properly before us. This is a court of review.”). Therefore, the argument Petitioner now advances on appeal is not properly preserved for appellate review pursuant to well-established South Carolina law. Petitioner’s argument cannot appropriately be considered for the first time on appeal. *See Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“[E]rror preservation has been a critical part of appellate practice in this State for a long time, serving to ensure . . . that we do not reach issues which were not ruled upon by the trial court. . . . If our review of the record establishes that an issue is not preserved, then we should not reach it.”); *State v. Head*, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (holding an appellate court “cannot address unpreserved errors”); *Plyler v. State*, 309 S.C. 408, 413, 424 S.E.2d 477, 480 (1992) (holding an issue that was neither raised at the PCR hearing nor ruled on by the PCR court is procedurally barred on appeal), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019); *Hyman v. State*, 278 S.C. 501, 502, 299 S.E.2d 330, 331 (1983) (holding an issue that was not raised in the PCR application or at the PCR hearing

is not properly before the appellate court).

In addition to being unpreserved, Petitioner's current argument—that kissing can never constitute a “lewd or lascivious act” as a matter of law—fails on the merits. First of all, Petitioner's argument depends on an illusory distinction between the nature of the act itself and the intention of the actor. Petitioner appears to argue that, for an act to fall within the CSCM 3rd statute, it must not only be committed “with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust, passions, or sexual desires of the actor or the child,” but the act must also be “lewd or lascivious” in and of itself. In Petitioner's view, the statutory element of a “lewd or lascivious act” is totally separate from the element of the actor's intent, and evidence of the actor's lewd or lascivious intent cannot suffice to render the act itself lewd or lascivious. This view is untenable.

The very same argument was addressed and rejected by the California Supreme Court in *People v. Martinez*, 11 Cal.4th 434, 903 P.2d 1037 (1995), construing a virtually identical provision of the California penal code.¹ That case concerned incidents involving two separate victims, both 13-year-old girls; the defendant Martinez was a stranger to both victims. In the first incident, the victim noticed Martinez following her as she was walking from her junior high school to a friend's house. Martinez suddenly lunged at her, “hugged” her tightly, and attempted to kiss her before neighbors intervened and ordered Martinez to release her. When one of the neighbors indicated police were on their way, Martinez fled on foot. A short time later, the second victim

¹ Compare Cal. Penal Code § 288 (West) (“[A] person who willfully and lewdly commits any lewd or lascivious act . . . upon or with the body, or any part or member thereof, of a child who is under the age of 14 years, with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust, passions, or sexual desires of that person or the child, is guilty of a felony”) with S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(C) (“A person is guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the third degree if the actor . . . wilfully and lewdly commits or attempts to commit a lewd or lascivious act upon or with the body, or its parts, of a child under sixteen years of age, with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust, passions, or sexual desires of the actor or the child.”).

was playing at a nearby park when Martinez appeared, seized her, and began “hugging” her. Martinez released the victim and attempted to flee after her family confronted him. He was ultimately arrested at the scene of the second incident after being tackled by the victim’s father and uncle.

Martinez was convicted on two counts of violating Cal. Penal Code § 288. He challenged his convictions on the ground that his hugging of both victims and attempted kissing of the first victim were not inherently “lewd or lascivious” acts. Mirroring Petitioner’s current argument, Martinez argued “that section 288 separately requires sexual ‘intent’ *and* a ‘lewd or lascivious act.’ . . . Each of these elements, ‘lewd’ act and sexual ‘intent,’ is necessary to a completed violation under this approach.” *Martinez*, 11 Cal.4th at 442, 903 P.2d at 1041 (emphasis in original).

[Martinez] observes that the phrase “lewd or lascivious act” appears in section 288 in addition to language describing the “sexual” nature of the criminal “intent.” . . . [Martinez] argues that each such phrase—lewd act and sexual intent—must be given separate effect, and that a contrary approach violates the general rule requiring courts to construe a statute so as to avoid surplusage.

Id. at 447–48, 903 P.2d at 1045. Martinez claimed that, “even assuming he intended sexual arousal, there was no evidence he touched either victim in an inherently sexual manner.” *Id.* at 441, 903 P.2d at 1040.

The California Court of Appeal accepted Martinez’s argument and reversed one of his convictions as a result.² The Supreme Court of California, however, held that section 288 criminalized *any* touching of an underage child with sexual intent. The following reasons

² Although it agreed with Martinez’s argument, the California Court of Appeal found any error was “harmless” as to the first victim, because Martinez’s attempts to kiss that victim were “clearly sexual.” *Id.*

articulated by the *Martinez* court apply with equal force to the South Carolina statute at issue in the present case:

First, the expansive language of section 288 expressly applies to contact “upon or with the [victim’s] body, or any part or member thereof,” unlike the language of other sex offense statutes, which “prohibit the commission of certain clearly specified acts” described “in precise and clinical terms.” *Id.* at 442–43, 903 P.2d at 1041. The *Martinez* court held the comparatively “broad and amorphous language” of section 288 indicated “that the statute was intended to include sexually motivated conduct not made criminal elsewhere in the scheme,” which was consistent with the legislature’s well-established policy of providing special protection to children against sexual exploitation. *Id.* at 442–44, 903 P.2d at 1041–42. Likewise, S.C. Code Ann. section 16-3-655(C) broadly criminalizes acts “upon or with the [victim’s] body, or its parts,” unlike other sex offense statutes, which are restricted to clearly specified acts upon specified parts of the victim’s body. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-3-652, -653, -654, -655(A), and -655(B) (specifying “sexual battery” as an element of all criminal sexual conduct offenses other than CSCM 3rd); *id.* § 16-3-755(B), -755(C); and -755(D) (specifying “sexual battery” as an element of offenses of sexual battery with a student); *id.* § 16-3-651(h) and -755(A)(5) (defining “sexual battery” as “sexual intercourse, cunnilingus, fellatio, anal intercourse, or any intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person's body or of any object into the genital or anal openings of another person's body, except when such intrusion is accomplished for medically recognized treatment or diagnostic purposes.”); *see also id.* § 16-3-600(C)(1)(i) and -600(D)(1)(b) (criminalizing acts involving “nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person”); *id.* § 16-3-600(A)(3) (defining “private parts” as “the genital area or buttocks of a male or female or the breasts of a female”). The broad, general language of the CSCM 3rd statute, as contrasted with other South Carolina sex offense statutes,

indicates that statute was intended to apply expansively to sexually motivated touching not otherwise provided for in the statutory scheme.

Second, the *Martinez* court rejected the reasoning of *Martinez* and the California Court of Appeal that their interpretation of the statute—requiring proof of *both* sexual intent *and* an inherently lewd act—was necessary to avoid “surplusage.” *Martinez*, 11 Cal.4th at 447–48, 903 P.2d at 1045. The court noted that the presumption against surplusage “is not absolute.” *Id.* at 448, 903 P.2d at 1045. “We are not required to assume that the Legislature has chosen ‘the most economical means of expression,’ particularly where a statute of venerable origin is involved.” *Id.* at 449, 903 P.2d at 1045. The court acknowledged that the successive phrases of section 288—*willfully and lewdly*, *lewd and lascivious act*, and *with the intent of arousing the lust, passions, or sexual desires*—are “archaic and logically redundant to some degree.” *Id.* at 449, 903 P.2d at 1045–46. The court specifically noted prior cases had determined that no separate meaning could be ascribed to the phrases “willfully and lewdly” and “with [sexual] intent”; although those phrases were distinct, they overlapped and referred to a single phenomenon: sexual motivation. *Id.* at 449, 903 P.2d at 1046. For the same reason, the court held that whether an act is “lewd or lascivious” depends entirely upon the sexual motivation with which it is committed:

[T]he lewd character of an activity cannot logically be determined separate and apart from the perpetrator's intent. It is common knowledge that children are routinely cuddled, disrobed, stroked, examined, and groomed as part of a normal and healthy upbringing. On the other hand, any of these intimate acts may also be undertaken for the purpose of sexual arousal. Thus, depending upon the actor's motivation, innocent or sexual, such behavior may fall within or without the protective purposes of section 288.

Id. at 449–50, 903 P.2d at 1046. The same rationale applies to South Carolina’s CSCM 3rd statute, which likewise includes the phrases “willfully and lewdly,” “lewd or lascivious act,” and “with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust, passions, or sexual desires of the actor

or the child.” It is not possible to give separate and distinct meaning to each of these three phrases; clearly, some logical redundancy is present in the statutory text. Therefore, the sensible reading of all three phrases is that they “overlap and refer to a single phenomenon”: the actor’s sexual intent.

For the reasons articulated in *Martinez*, this Court should reject Petitioner’s reading of the CSCM 3rd statute. However, even if the Court were to accept Petitioner’s argument that an act must be *inherently* lewd or lascivious to satisfy the statute, the manner of kissing that Victim described in her testimony obviously qualifies as “lewd or lascivious” under any reasonable definition of those terms, including the definitions Petitioner quotes in his petition. (Pet.pp.16–17) (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary (5th ed. 1979)). Describing the kissing incident at trial, Victim testified that, although Petitioner had once given her a “peck” while they were home alone together, on another occasion he kissed her “with his tongue” against her will. (App.pp.82–83). Such a “French kiss” is commonly understood to constitute an expression of lustful sensuality, rather than chaste, fraternal affection. Therefore, any common understanding of the terms “lewd,” “lascivious,” “lustful,” “indecent,” or “obscene” would encompass Petitioner’s non-consensual kissing of Victim with his tongue.

Finally, Petitioner acknowledges that there was evidence—in the form of Victim’s testimony—that, in addition to kissing Victim, he had sexual intercourse with Victim and that he made Victim perform fellatio on him. Indisputably, those acts would be “lewd or lascivious” under the definitions Petitioner urges. Nevertheless, Petitioner seems to argue that, because he was acquitted of CSCM 2nd, which requires proof of a “sexual battery” such as fellatio or sexual intercourse, the jury could not have used the evidence of fellatio and sexual intercourse as evidence of “lewd or lascivious acts” to support its guilty verdict on the CSCM 3rd charge.

In effect, Petitioner is making an argument that the jury's verdict of not guilty on the CSCM 2nd charge is inconsistent with a finding that he performed the "lewd and lascivious" acts of sexual intercourse and fellatio to which Victim testified. South Carolina, however, has abolished the rule against "inconsistent verdicts." *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991). If there is any evidence in the record to support a charge, a guilty verdict on that charge will not be disturbed merely because it is purportedly "inconsistent" with the jury's verdict of acquittal on a separate charge.

There was substantial evidence to support the charge of CSCM 3rd in this case. Therefore, the PCR court did not err in concluding Petitioner failed to prove Counsel was ineffective for failing to more adequately argue his directed verdict motion as to that charge. This Court, accordingly, should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari as to this unpreserved and meritless issue.

II. This Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari as to Petitioner's argument that he is entitled to belated review of direct appeal issues, since Petitioner has conceded that the only direct appeal issue articulated in his "Statement of Issue on Appeal" was not preserved.

Petitioner contends he is entitled to belated review of his direct appeal issues pursuant to *White v. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974). As required by Rule 243(i)(2), SCACR, Petitioner has included a "Statement of Issue on Appeal" identifying the following direct appeal issue to be addressed if *White* review is granted:

Whether the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal pursuant to Rule 19, SCRCrimP, where the State alleged Petitioner was guilty of third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on testimony that Petitioner kissed Minor 1, and where § 16-3-655 requires the State prove the commission or attempted commission of "a lewd and lascivious act," since kissing is not a lewd and lascivious act?

The Court may have noticed something familiar about this issue. It is, in fact, the very same issue discussed over several immediately preceding pages of the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, wherein Petitioner claims Counsel deficiently *failed* to raise this issue at the directed verdict stage and, therefore, *failed* to preserve it for direct appeal. The petition for a writ of certiorari itself states that “[C]ounsel’s bald statement that ‘the defense would just move for a directed verdict’ was insufficient to raise this argument with specificity to the trial judge and thus to preserve this issue for direct appeal.” (Pet.p.17).

In other words, the only direct appeal issue raised by Petitioner for this Court’s consideration is concededly unpreserved for appellate review. Therefore, any error committed by the PCR court in determining that Petitioner is not entitled to *White* review is harmless. *See Fleming v. State*, 399 S.C. 380, 731 S.E.2d 889 (2012) (holding PCR court erred in dismissing applicant’s claim that he was denied right to appeal, but error was harmless because no issues were preserved and appeal would be to no avail).

There are no “special and important reasons” why this Court should issue a writ of certiorari to consider an admittedly unpreserved issue. Rule 242(b), SCACR. In addition, the issue itself is meritless, as discussed in section I of this Return. Therefore, this Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, the State seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.